RECEIVED

May 22 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
On Appeal from Pickens County
Honorable Donald Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

BRANDON CLARK,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2023-000641

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

Cameron Jane Blazer, Esq.
Ninth Circuit Public Defender's Office
101 Meeting Street, Fifth Floor
Charleston, SC 29401
843-958-1850
cblazer@charlestoncounty.org

Attorney for Petitioner

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals err when it misapplied this Court's precedents in *Anderson* and *Kromah* to uphold the trial court's improper limitation on cross-examination of the forensic interviewer and when to uphold the trial court's ruling preventing Clark from presenting an expert witness in his defense?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err when it gave an advisory opinion regarding the admissibility of the forensic interview after determining the issue had not been preserved for review?
3. Should this Court revisit its error preservation rules to provide for an exception where, as here, errors are so plain and so harmful that to delay their correction to collateral review would be unjust and wasteful of judicial resources?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 22, 2017, the Pickens County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Brandon Jerome Clark, for Criminal Sexual Conduct in the First Degree, indictment number 2017-GS-39-002245 (R. p. 537). In August of 2019, Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable Donald Hocker. The jury returned a verdict of guilty, and on August 22, 2019, Judge Hocker sentenced Clark to twenty-five years in prison. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on August 28, 2019, and received in the Court of Appeals on September 3, 2019, and the direct appeal perfected. On October 5, 2022, a three-judge panel of the South Carolina Court of Appeals heard argument in the case. On February 8, 2023, the Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction in a published opinion. State v. Clark, No. 5968 (S.C. Ct. App. Feb. 8, 2023). A timely petition for rehearing was filed and then denied on March 24, 2023. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

REASONS CERTIORARI SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court should grant certiorari to clarify that the holdings in *Anderson* and *Kromah* serve as limitations on the state's ability to use forensic examinations or testimony about forensic examination methodology to bolster child victims in their cases-in-chief, but *do not* limit defendants in cases involving child victims from contesting the substance or methodology when recordings of those examinations are played before a jury through either cross examination or the presentation of direct testimony. To the extent the lower court's error was imperfectly preserved below, this Court should further grant certiorari to vacate the Court of Appeals' advisory opinion regarding admission of the forensic video and to revisit its rules regarding error preservation, recognizing there are some errors so plain and so harmful that they must be corrected on direct, rather than collateral, appeal.

FACTS OF THE CASE

On March 20, 2017, A.G., a five-year-old girl, and her father presented at the Baptist Easley Hospital. R. 147. He reported to hospital staff that A.G. had disclosed a sexual assault by her mother's boyfriend. At the hospital, A.G. spoke to numerous adults and answered their questions, while her parents discussed the situation with law enforcement, hospital staff, a child advocate, and a representative of the South Carolina Department of Social Services. R. 321-322. A.G. reported that the abuse had taken place two days earlier. R. 209. Later, on March 28, 2017, A.G. went to the Julie Valentine Children's Center for a forensic interview conducted by Amber Hiott Cheney. R. 42. Shortly after the interview began, A.G. told Cheney, somewhat unprompted, "there was somebody sticking their finger in my mouth. . . and there, there behind me. . . but they're never going to come back. It's my mom's boyfriend, his name is B, and it only gets one B." R. 498; Court's Ex. 8. She went on to say, "he stick his finger in my butt, the front and the back, and he sticks his finger in my mouth. . . when my mom was asleep and Sissy was asleep, I was screaming." *Id* at 499. She told Cheney that it only happened once and that her abuser took her out of her bed and downstairs on the couch. *Id*. She said her clothes stayed on but also that he made her take her shorts off. *Id*. at 501. She said that "B" took off her panties and that after the abuse occurred, he took her back upstairs. *Id*. She told the interviewer that her abuser "peed" on her with "his big fat butt" and stuck his finger in her butt. *Id* at 502. When asked what color the pee was, she replied, "like the color I'm wearing, I'm wearing blue and white." *Id*. She said it felt "like ice coming down my butt." *Id*. at 504. Later, pressed for more details, she said that when he put his fingers in her butt, "it feeled like a rock in my butt." *Id*. at 507.

Also, during the interview, A.G. told Cheney that she had driven her mother's car, that "B" had scratched her face so she was "covered in blood." R. 516; Court Ex. 8. When Cheney introduced the question of whether anyone had ever taken pictures of her without her clothes, A.G. said that "B" had taken pictures of her with her shorts off "a long time

ago.” She said he took the picture with his own eyes, because “his eyes got a camera.” *Id.* at 532.

A.G. also described an incident in which “B” had “knocked out” her mommy, “knocked her head wide open.” *Id.* at 523-524. The five-year-old told Cheney that she had “took her to the hospital. . . . I was driving her car.” *Id.* She continued:

She was upstairs sleeping and I was screaming. She came downstairs and she was like, B, will you shut up. And we looked at her and she looked at me, and in the meantime I was like dead, but then I came back alive, and I took my mom to the hospital because she was dead, she wasn’t asleep.

Id. at 525. Cheney then asked A.G. if anyone had told her what to say, and she replied, “Yeah. . . my nanny, my daddy and my mommy.” Cheney reminded A.G., that “we can only talk about things that really happened in here, okay? So did you really drive a car?” A.G. replied, “Yeah.” R. 526. A few minutes later, she repeated, “They told me to say the same thing I just told you.” Cheney asked, “And did that stuff really happen?” A.G. replied, “Yeah.” Cheney pressed further, “What did they tell you about telling me that?” A.G. responded, “I don’t know, but it didn’t really come in real life, but I really driving my mom’s car.” R. 527. When asked what she knew about what she was coming to Cheney to talk about, A.G. responded, “All about B because B’s mean to me.” This interview was recorded. At trial, Brandon Clark’s counsel initially consented to but ultimately objected to its reliability pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175. The trial judge overruled the objection, and the video was admitted into evidence and played for the jury at trial. R. 48.

Pretrial matters

At a hearing to address pretrial matters, the trial judge addressed the admissibility of A.G.’s forensic interview. Counsel for Clark explained that she would consent to its admission, provided that her expert would be able to testify and that a certified transcript of the interview would be admitted into evidence. When the trial judge hesitated to agree to those provisos, counsel for Clark withdrew her consent to the video’s admission. R. 8. The trial judge ruled that the video met the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. 17-23-175 and would be admitted. R. 22. He deferred a final ruling on the admissibility of the

transcript and the scope Clark's expert would be confined to, and the trial got underway without clarity as to whether and to what Clark's expert would be permitted to testify.

Minor Child Testimony

The State called A.G. as its first witness. Appx. to R. 1. In a brief in-camera hearing, the State, the trial judge, and counsel for Clark questioned A.G. regarding her competency to testify. At the time of the trial, two years after the initial disclosure, she was seven years old. After acknowledging in direct examination that there would be negative consequences if she did not tell the truth, on cross-examination, counsel for Clark asked, "you said you understood the consequences if you tell a lie. What does 'consequence' mean?" Appx. to R. 4. A.G. replied, "I don't know." Notwithstanding this evidence that A.G. had not fully understood the competency questions she was asked, and over objection from Clark's counsel, the trial judge found her competent to testify. Appx. to R. 5.

In her trial testimony A.G. was asked, "Who is Brandon Clark?" She replied, "The person who did this stuff to me, I think." R. 27. She went on to testify, "He pulled down my pants and peed in my private." R. 28. Asked to elaborate, she said, "That's all – all I know." *Id.* When asked if he did anything else, she responded, "no, not that I know of." *Id.* She was asked about her forensic interview: "The things that you told to Amber, is that really what happened that night?" She replied, "some of them." R. 31. "Tell me what that means," the solicitor asked. "Most of them," A.G. replied. "[T]ell me what you told Miss Amber that was true," the solicitor asked. "I forgot," A.G. replied. R. 32.

All of this testimony was elicited in direct examination. On cross-examination, A.G. acknowledged having watched the video of her interview with Amber Cheney. R. 38. Despite having been refreshed as to the contents of her interview, at no time during her trial testimony did she testify to Brandon Clark using his fingers or any other body part to enter her body. She testified only that he "peed" on her.

Forensic Interviewer Testimony

Amber Hiott Cheney was called next by the State. Cheney testified that she met with A.G. on March 28, 2017, to conduct a “child-friendly” interview in relation to the investigation of her disclosure of sexual abuse. R. 42. She testified that her interview was neutral, fact-finding and non-biased. R. 43. She authenticated the State’s copy of the video of her interview of A.G., and the court admitted the video into evidence as State’s Exhibit 1, noting “previous discussions.” R. 43-44. At the close of the State’s direct examination of Cheney, but before cross-examination by Clark’s counsel, the video was played for the jury.

On cross-examination, counsel for Clark began by inquiring about Cheney’s purported neutrality. R. 49. This prompted an objection by the State, which was heard *in camera*. The State objected to the scope of cross-examination, but Clark’s counsel noted that Cheney had testified to her unbiased neutrality on direct. Rather than immediately rule on the objection, the Court directed Clark’s counsel to continue her intended examination in camera, which she did:

Q: Okay. When you interview children, is it not the best practice to ask non-leading and open-ended questions?

A: That is correct.

THE COURT: Okay. And let me – let me just stop you. As part of the – one of the factors under 175 is that even though I didn’t – I didn’t detail each factor in my ruling, that is one of the things that I need to find, that there was no leading questions. I didn’t think Ms. Cheney throughout the interview really asked any leading questions. That – that was – that’s one of the bases for my ruling for allowing the interview to come in.

MS. BARWICK: Judge, it’s not just leading questions, it’s open-ended questions that need to be asked during these forensic interviews. Over and over and over and over again, there were yes-no questions.

And there were questions assuming an answer that hadn’t been given yet. And there’s been examples. And I was going to go through them.

R. 53.

The Court allowed the in-camera examination to continue, during which Cheney acknowledged that the exercise in “correcting” her when she got details wrong did not result in A.G. correcting her at all. She further admitted paraphrasing what A.G. had said. R. 54-55. The trial judge said, “I’m going to allow this line of questioning. . . As far as being a neutral interviewer, I mean, that’s – I guess she – I don’t know if I would necessarily classify it as opening the door. But I’ll allow this – this line of testimony.” Trial R. 58. Counsel for the State placed her objection on the record, citing *State v. Anderson*, 413 S.C. 212, 776 S.E.2d 76 (S.C. 2015), for the principle that “there is to be no testimony to such things as technique.” R. 58. Counsel for Clark responded, “[T]hat’s where the state is trying to introduce evidence as technique, not cross-examining about the failed technique.” *Id.* She continued, “[I]f I can’t effectively cross-examine this witness, I can’t effectively represent my client and put up a defense. We have to be able to attack . . . the methodology.” R. 59. The trial judge then directed Clark’s counsel to question the witness – still *in camera* – as to her training and background, but said, “I’m not going to allow any cross-examination related to techniques. . . The case is clear, it says no testimony. . . . If you want to get – proffer anything else related to technique, here’s your chance to do it.” R. 60.

Counsel for Clark clarified the holding in *Anderson*: “[T]he purpose behind that is to prevent improper bolstering. I’m not trying to bolster. I’m trying to say that the technique that was used may have influenced it the other way.” R. 60. The trial judge again directed her to conduct whatever inquiry she wanted for the record in camera. R. 62. Again, Clark’s counsel led Cheney through the technique employed in the interview, highlighting instances where A.G. failed to correct her, or she inaccurately paraphrased A.G., she failed to ask open-ended questions of A.G., or she introduced new concepts to A.G. R. 63-73. At multiple points during the cross-examination, Cheney expressed frustration because she could not remember her exact words and did not have a transcript to refer to. R. 73, 75, 89. Clark’s counsel again asked for a ruling on the admissibility of the transcript, and again the trial court declined to rule. R. 78.

The examination continued, and Clark's counsel asked Cheney about the framing of her instruction to A.G. for what they could talk about in the interview:

Q: Okay. So, in essence, saying, only tell me the things that really happened is the same thing as telling the child, tell me the truth?

A: I don't – I think there's a difference, which is why it's allowed to say that versus saying, tell me the truth.

Q: Is that not just a newfangled way of changing it up to get around the case – the recent case law that's been out?

A: I can't testify to that because I didn't make the protocol. All I can say is that when I was trained in that you're allowed to say, tell me about things that really happened. R. 79.

After counsel for Clark concluded her in-camera cross-examination, counsel for the State elicited testimony from Cheney about her training and experience, at the direction of the trial judge. R. 93-94. When that was concluded, the trial judge restated his ruling: "Now, when we bring the jury out, I will allow cross-examination only on the issue of neutrality. I guess to some extent the witness did open up the door on that."

After the jury returned, counsel for Clark engaged in the limited cross-examination of Cheney without addressing any of the potential issues present in the interview that could have affected the reliability of the disclosure. R. 96-101.

When the trial reconvened the next day, counsel for Clark again placed her concerns about the admission of the forensic interview video and limitation of her cross-examination of Amber Cheney on the record:

Ms. Barwick: When I consented to the forensic interview I personally did not stipulate to the factors listed in 17-23-175 as I did not believe the video possessed any particularized guarantees of trustworthiness. The factors in that statute that I had the most trouble with were whether it was elicited by leading questions.

And as – through my cross-examination, it's apparent that I believe that they were elicited by leading investigation – or questions. Also, whether the statement presented a detailed account of the alleged offense and whether any statement – that statement had internal coherence.

. . . I know at the beginning of the trial, I intended to call an expert attacking the methodology that was used creating an unreliable disclosure and that any future disclosures by those

unreliable methods would have tainted the witness as any further testimony as to what occurred. I would not have consented to the introduction of the forensic interview had I known I would not be permitted to attack the methodology.

We are arguing that what we heard from the child in her out-of-court statement is not the testimony of the child, but the product of the power of suggestion of the interviewer.

...
We're attacking the totality of the circumstances surrounding the making of the statement. Because those circumstances don't guarantee trustworthiness of the statements. This is essential for us to be able to cross-examine, to attack the method in which the interviewer got the answers she got.

...
We're attacking the methodology so we can argue that the child's statements . . . we were planning on doing that through our expert. You haven't ruled as to that. But we are planning on attacking the methodology so we can argue that the child's statements are not, in fact, hers. . . .

State v. Anderson said that the interviewer cannot talk about the importance of telling the truth and that we only tell the truth. . . what *State v. Anderson*. . . says because we're saying we did it right and this was the child's answer, that means the child must be telling the truth. And that was the danger that Anderson was trying to prevent.

In this particular case, she got up – their own witness got up and testified saying she's neutral and unbiased. And then she turned around in the video and explained to the child the importance of telling us things that really happened, which is just another way of saying to tell the truth. . . and then she was – proceeded to lay out several other rules, all of which Anderson says you're not supposed to lay out the rules.

R. 120-121.

The Court responded by noting that Clark's counsel had not moved to redact portions of the interview. R. 122. Thereafter, Clark's counsel reiterated her request that the transcript of the video also be admitted into evidence and published to the jury. At the close of argument on that matter, counsel for the State reiterated, "It's not appropriate to question the technique of the forensic interviewer in these proceedings. So anything that would be used to even question that is inappropriate." R. 136.

Shauna Galloway-Williams' Testimony

The State called Shauna Galloway-Williams as a “blind expert” in child abuse dynamics. R. 331. Galloway is the director of the Julie Valentine Center, where A.G. was interviewed, but testified she did not have direct knowledge of the interview. Acknowledging the state of the case law, Clark’s counsel nonetheless placed her objection on the record that the use of such experts constitutes improper bolstering, “because it can be linked to saying, yes, this is what’s normal with child abuse victims, and this is what she’s doing. And the questions are going to be geared, specifically, to the issues in this case, even though the answers are general in terms.” R. 332. Counsel for Clark stipulated that Galloway-Williams would qualify as an expert, but the Court held an in-camera hearing to address whether her testimony would aid the trier of fact and the reliability of her process and methodology. R. 333-345. The court found that her testimony would aid the jury and that her methodology was sufficiently reliable. Galloway-Williams testified broadly as to generalities regarding the behaviors of children who are victims of abuse.

Defendant's Expert Witness

After the State rested, Counsel for Clark again raised the issue of the methodology employed in A.G.’s forensic interview: “The purpose of [my expert’s] testimony is to attack the methodology of that interview . . . and to testify as to the matter of suggestion that was made to this child by the interviewer. Your Honor has told me that you are unwilling to allow that to happen. Is that still the case?” R. 407. The Court noted, “[W]e had some *in camera* testimony from Ms. Cheney. And we dealt with that issue and wherein I ruled that you could not get into methodology. . . . So if I didn’t allow the State, would it be fair to allow you to do it?” R. 408. Clark’s counsel noted that it had not been the State trying to introduce the methodology but her effort to place questions about it before the jury. R. 409. Counsel for Clark noted that the rules are clear that forensic interviewers cannot testify as to rules and methods in order to bolster or vouch for child witnesses but that having another expert review and comment on the propriety of the interview methods is

not an improper attack on the credibility of the child witness. R. 410. She further noted, “All I’m trying to do is tell the jury that the words they heard coming out of the child were not the words of the child, but the words of the interviewer.” R. 410. The Court responded, “Would that not be attacking the credibility of the child? Because she, for whatever reason, was not being – either because she was being led, coerced, whatever, she was not being truthful with – with her answers. So wouldn’t you be attacking the credibility of her?” The colloquy continued, and Counsel for Clark cited *Kromah* and *Anderson* to the trial court in support of her position. Ultimately, the Court placed its ruling on the record as follows:

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