**RECEIVED**

**Jun 20 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS  
Appeal From Pickens County  
The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000641

---

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

BRANDON JEROME CLARK, ..... PETITIONER.

---

Opinion No. 5968 (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 8, 2023)

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3713

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III.  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

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

When the jury returned, trial counsel questioned Cheney about what material she had received prior to the forensic interview, to which she responded by explaining she had read a police report and spoken to a DSS caseworker, both of which were normal protocol pursuant to her

training and were used as information to inform her as to the subject matter of the interview. However, she emphasized she did not use leading questions “and bring information into the room that [she] [previously] obtained.” (R.p.95, line 18–p.100, line 24).

The following day, trial counsel claimed that when she consented to admitting the forensic interview, “[she] personally did not stipulate to the factors listed in 17-23-175 as [she] did not believe the video possessed any particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.” However, the trial judge noted he already ruled that the forensic video satisfied the factors listed in section 17-23-175, and no objection was made at that time nor was there a motion to redact any portions of the forensic interview. Appellant also renewed his request to submit the transcript of the recorded interview into evidence, to which the State again argued the video itself was the best evidence, and the jury utilizing a transcript would lead to them not focusing on the best evidence of the interview: it’s recording. The transcript did not and could not capture the physical cues exhibited by the Victim. Further, the State noted that trial counsel sought to use the transcript in order to cross-examine Cheney on specific comments made by Victim, which was an improper request to ask Cheney to interpret Victim’s behaviors and responses. Trial counsel even admitted the transcript was “impeachment evidence. [It] was impeaching what the forensic interviewers on the interviewing [sic] saying the child did.” Ultimately, the trial transcript was not admitted into evidence. (R.p.118, line 12–p.136, line 12).

Shauna Galloway-Williams testified as the State’s expert witness in child abuse dynamics. Galloway-Williams teaches courses on the issue; provides local, statewide, and national training to various people and agencies; has published various peer-reviewed articles on the issue; and has testified as an expert witness in over forty trials. Trial counsel did not object to her qualifications. Galloway-Williams never met with Victim and only testified regarding general concepts involved

in child abuse dynamics, including: (1) accidental and purposeful disclosures; (2) delayed and immediate disclosures; (3) disclosures as a process in which additional information may be revealed over extended periods of time; (4) factors that impact disclosures such as a child's age and vocabulary; (5) the impact of trauma on a child's memory; (6) the existence of "grooming"; and other dynamics. On cross-examination, trial counsel questioned Galloway-Williams about interviewer influences and how interviewers are trained to use non-leading questions during forensic interviews. Galloway-Williams agreed that interviewers should generally use open-ended questions but emphasized "there's no interview where every single question is an open-ended question," an assertion with which trial counsel agreed. (R.p.347, line 6–p.382, line 14).

#### **Dr. Amanda Salas's Proffered Testimony**

The trial judge denied trial counsel's motion to allow him to introduce his own expert witness to testify regarding "the proper methodology for forensic interviews," noting the case law provided by the State throughout trial indicated that forensic interviewers are prohibited from discussing methodology and their own observations about a child victim's behavior because such testimony would improperly bolster that victim's testimony. Therefore, if the State is prohibited from presenting that evidence, the defense should also be prohibited from presenting evidence of that type, as the inference to be drawn from the defendant's evidence would be "don't believe the child." To preserve the record, the trial judge allowed trial counsel's witness to proffer her testimony. Dr. Amanda Salas was a medical doctor of psychiatry who spent two years specializing in adolescent psychiatry from 2006 to 2008, and eventually became board certified in adult psychiatry, child and adolescent psychiatry, and forensic psychiatry, with about a quarter of her active practice involving child psychiatry. However, when the State questioned her about the forensic interview style called ChildFirst which was used to interview Victim, Dr. Salas conceded

she had no substantive knowledge of it but “ha[d] heard of it. When questioned about trials in which she testified regarding techniques and best practice with a forensic interview, Dr. Salas could not recall the details about those cases, only that one case occurred in Charleston and one in Orangeburg. Dr. Salas also did not dispute that the literature supports ChildFirst and other nationally recognized protocols for interviewing children. (R.p.427, line 23–p.428, line 19; p.443, line 9–p.456, line 7).

As to general techniques for interviewing children, Dr. Salas, like Galloway-Williams, explained the importance of making children feel comfortable and using open-ended questions. Dr. Salas shared the acronym of another child interview theory she discovered in her month of research leading up to the trial, called NICHD that was looked on favorably in jurisdictions outside of South Carolina. Trial counsel also asked Dr. Salas her opinion on specific sections of the forensic interview, in which she critiqued, among other things, the questions asked by Cheney. (R.p.458, line 1–p.481, line 3).

The trial judge noted Dr. Salas had a lot of credentials, but due to the case law could not qualify her as an expert for the purposes of commenting on Cheney’s testimony. (R.p.456, line 8–p.457, line 25).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Decisions to admit or exclude evidence rest in the sound discretion of the trial judge and will only be reversed on appeal for an abuse of discretion. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). “A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.” State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). “Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury’s verdict.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011). “[T]he appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based upon its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial judge’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378-79, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (2008).

## ARGUMENT

**I. The Court of Appeals properly upheld the lower court's decision to refuse to allow Appellant to cross-examine Victim's forensic interviewer about the specifics of Victim's forensic interview pursuant to Anderson and Kromah.**

Petitioner argues the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial judge's decision to refuse allow Appellant to cross-examine Victim's forensic interviewer about the specifics of Victim's forensic interview because it is not supported by this Court's precedent and cannot withstand constitutional scrutiny. Petitioner's argument is invalid because the admissibility of evidence is within the discretion of the trial judge. Declining to allow questioning on topics prohibited by precedent; instructing instead that the interview was "fair game" for closing argument was not an abuse of discretion.

During a trial, the scope of cross-examination is a matter falling within the discretion of the trial judge. State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 625, 525 S.E.2d 246, 247-248 (2000); see State v. Avant, 85 S.C. 570, 575, 67 S.E. 908, 910 (1910) ("The conduct of the case in respect to cross-examination must be left, in large measure, to the sound judgment of the presiding Judge[.]"). However, a trial judge should not permit a solicitor or defense counsel to cross-examine a witness in such a matter as to force that witness to attack the veracity of another witness. State v. Bryant, 316 S.C. 216, 221, 447 S.E.2d 852, 855 (1994); see State v. Sapps, 295 S.C. 484, 486, 369 S.E.2d 145, 145-146 (1988) ("It is improper for the solicitor to cross-examine a witness in such a manner as to force him to attack the veracity of another witness."); State v. Benning, 338 S.C. 59, 63, 524 S.E.2d 852, 855 (Ct. App. 1999) ("It is improper to cross-examine in a way that requires a witness to attack another witness's credibility."). Such "argumentative questioning" constitutes improper witness pitting. Burgess v. State, 329 S.C. 88, 91, 495 S.E.2d 445, 447 (1998).

“Improper bolstering occurs when an expert witness is allowed to give his or her opinion as to whether the complaining witness is telling the truth, because that is an ultimate issue of fact and the inference to be drawn is not beyond the ken of the average juror.” State v. Taylor, 404 S.C. 506, 514–15, 745 S.E.2d 124, 128 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting State v. Douglas, 367 S.C. 498, 626 S.E.2d 59 (Ct. App. 2006), *rev'd in part on other grounds*, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009)). Generally, bolstering is prohibited to prevent a witness from testifying whether another witness is credible, which is exclusively within the province of the jury. Id.

In Anderson, the person who conducted a forensic interview of the child victim was qualified “as a forensic interviewer in child abuse assessment” without the trial court holding a hearing to determine if the forensic interviewer possessed the requisite experience in child abuse assessment. State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 218, 776 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2015). This Court found it was error for the trial court to deny an in camera hearing to determine if the forensic interviewer possessed the requisite expertise. This Court also noted the forensic interviewer’s behavioral expert testimony vouched for the Victim’s credibility because she testified “only to those characteristics **which she observed** in the minor.” Id. at 219, 776 S.E.2d at 79 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court found the following limitations should be placed on her testimony before the jury:

“The sole purpose of her jury testimony is to lay the foundation for the introduction of the videotape, and the questioning must be limited to that subject. There is no testimony to such things as techniques, of the instruction to the interview subject of the importance of telling the truth, or that the purpose of the interview is to allow law enforcement to determine whether a criminal investigation is warranted.”

Id. at 220-21, 776 S.E.2d at 80.

In the instant case, the trial judge's decision to limit the cross-examination of Cheney aligns perfectly with Anderson. Appellant sought to cross examine Cheney on the techniques she used and her specific observations about Victim's reactions to her techniques and questions. Cheney's responses to these questions and any questions used by the State to rehabilitate her on these matters would necessarily involve testimony prohibited by Anderson. The Court of Appeals found "Clark is of course right that he is not trying to bolster, but if he can attack method and training, the State must necessarily dispute Clark's viewpoint, and it is difficult to envision how the State could dispute the attack without bolstering." State v. Clark, 438 S.C. 495, 504, 884 S.E.2d 212, 216 (Ct. App. 2023).

Just because Petitioner was prohibited from cross-examining Cheney in his desired manner does not mean Petitioner was unable to defend against the interview. Most importantly, the jury was able to review the evidence and draw their own conclusions from the recording. Further, trial counsel was free to (and did) argue about the conclusions which could be drawn from the video during her closing argument. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals did not err in upholding the lower court's ruling prohibiting trial counsel from cross-examining Cheney on matters prohibited by Anderson.

**II. The Court of Appeals did not err in addressing the admissibility of the forensic interview after determining the issue had not been preserved for review because it merely answered the question as it was presented and did not give an advisory opinion.**

Petitioner argues the Court of Appeals erred when it gave an advisory opinion regarding the admissibility of the forensic interview after determining the issue had not been preserved for review. This argument lacks merit because the Court of Appeals did not issue an advisory opinion.

The question of whether the circuit court erred in admitting the forensic interview was presented to the Court of Appeals. In its opinion the Court of Appeals held that this issue was not

preserved, but even if it had been preserved, their ruling on the issue would not change even if they reviewed the admissibility of the forensic interview on the merits because they could find no basis for finding the circuit court abused its discretion in concluding that Victim's allegation of abuse in the interview satisfied the standard for admission. This was not an advisory opinion, but simply answering the question as presented, in the event that this court disagreed with the Court of Appeals preservation argument to avoid having to then rehear and determine what the merits ruling would have been.

**III. The issue of revisiting the error preservation rules was not presented in the petition for rehearing and therefore is not preserved for review by this Court.**

Petitioner argues that this Court should revisit its error preservation rules to provide for an exception where, as here, errors are so plain and so harmful that to delay their correction until collateral review would be unjust and wasteful of judicial resources. "Ordinarily, no point will be considered on appeal which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal." Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR. Similarly, a petition for rehearing must "state with particularity the points supposed to have been overlooked or misapprehend by the court." Rule 221(a), SCACR. "The purpose of a petition for rehearing is not to present points which lawyers for the losing parties have overlooked or misapprehended, nor is it the purpose of the petition for rehearing to have the case tried in the appellate court a second time." Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 466, 719 S.E.2d 640, 643 (2011). The United States Supreme Court has stated "When the highest state court is silent on a federal question before us, we assume that the issue was not properly presented, and the aggrieved party bears the burden of defeating this assumption by demonstrating that the state court had a fair opportunity to address the federal question that is sought to be presented here." Adams v. Robertson, 520 U.S. 83, 86-87, 117 S.Ct. 1028, 137 L.Ed.2d 203 (1997). This Court recently ruled in State v. Morales, that because defendant failed to properly object to a witness's

testimony, the merits of the argument that the testimony was not admissible was not preserved for appellate review. State v. Morales, No. 28154 (S.C. Court filed May 31, 2023). This issue of revisiting the error preservation rules was not presented as an issue in the Court of Appeals and also not presented as an issue in the petition for rehearing and therefore is not preserved for this Court to review.

## CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and convictions of the lower court be affirmed.

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER  
Assistant Attorney General

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit